DETAINEE DEATH REVIEW - Luis Alonso FINO-Martinez
JICMS #201607857

SYNOPSIS

On June 13, 2016, Luis Alonso FINO-Martinez (FINO), who was a fifty-four-year-old citizen
and national of Honduras, died while in the custody of U.S. Immigration and Customs
Enforcement (ICE), at the University of Medicine and Dentistry Rutgers (UMDR) Hospital in
Newark, New Jersey. The New Jersey Department of Health Certificate of Death documented
the cause of FINO's death as hypertensive and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease with
congestive heart failure, and his manner of death to be natural.

FINO was detained at the Essex County Correctional Facility (ECCF) in Newark, New Jersey
(NJ), at the time of his death. ECCF is operated by the Essex County Department of Corrections
under an Intergovernmental Service Agreement (IGSA), which requires the facility to comply
with the ICE Performance Based National Detention Standards (PBNDS) 2011. At the time of
FINO’s death, ECCF housed approximately 550 male detainees of all classification levels for
periods in excess of 72 hours. Medical care at ECCF is provided by the Center for Family
Guidance (CF(G) Health Systems, LLC.

DETAILS OF REVIEW

From August 9 to 11, 2016, ICE Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR), Office of
Detention Oversight (ODO) staff visited ECCF and, with the assistance of contract subject
matter experts (SME) in correctional healthcare and security, reviewed the circumstances of
FINO’s death. ODO’s contract SMEs are employed by Creative Corrections, a national
management and consulting firm contracted by ICE to provide subject matter expertise in
detention management and compliance with detention standards, including health care and
security. As part of its review, ODO reviewed immigration, medical and detention records
pertaining to FINO, in addition to conducting in-person interviews of individuals employed by
ECCF, CFG, and the ICE Office of Enforcement and Removal Operations (ERO).

During the review, the ODO review team took note of any deficiencies observed in the detention
standards as they relate to the care and custody of the deceased detainee and documented those
deficiencies herein for informational purposes only. Their inclusion in the report should not be
construed in any way as indicating the deficiency contributed to the death of the detainee. ODO
determined the following timeline of events, from the time of FINO’s apprehension by ICE,
through his detention at ECCF, and eventual death at UMDR Hospital.

IMMIGRATION HISTORY

At an unknown location and on an unknown date in 1993, FINO unlawfully entered the United
States.’

On January 10, 2003, FINO was encountered at the Houston Intercontinental Airport while
seeking admission to the United States as a returning Legal Permanent Resident. During this

"[CE Significant Incident Report. dated June 13. 2016.
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encounter, FINO stated he knowingly and intentionally married a United States citizen in order
to frandulently obtain Legal Permanent Residence in the United States.” On the same day, FINO
was served with a Notice to Appear (Form [-862) for violating § 212(a)}(6)}C)(i) and §
212(a)((AXiX]D) of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), as amended.”

On August 28, 2003, an immigration judge administratively closed FINO’s removal proceedings
due to a pending Temporary Protective Status (TPS) application.”

On December 8, 2004, United States Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) terminated
FINO's conditional residence status as a result of his failure to appear for an interview related his
Petition to Remove the Condition on Residence.’

On June 19, 2015, ERO Newark served FINO with a Notice to Appear (Form 1-862),(’ and on
June 22, 2015, upon his release from the Northern State Prison, Newark, NJ, FINO was placed in
the custody of ERO Newark and transferred to the ECCF where he was detained until his death.’

On May 10, 2016, an Immigration Judge (1) ordered FINO removed from the United States to
Honduras, and on June 6, 2016, FINO appealed the 1J's order to the Board of Immigration
Appeals.”

CRIMINAL HISTORY

On November 29, 2004, FINO was convicted of harassment by the Municipal Court of
Elizabeth, NJ, and sentenced to 20 days incarceration, one year of probation, and a fine.”

On February 27, 2006, FINO was convicted of possession of a firearm for unlawtul purpose,
possession of a weapon for unlawful purpose and criminal attempted murder by the Union
County Superior Court, and was sentenced to 12 years confinement at the Northern State Prison,
Newark, NJ. ' On June 22, 2015, the Northern State Prison released FINO to ICE custody in
Newark, NJ.

NARRATIVE

0ODO determined the following timeline of events, from the time FINO entered ICE custody on
June 22, 2015, through his detention at ECCF and death at UMDR Hospital.

 Form [-213, Record of Deportable/Inadmissible Alien, dated June 17, 2015,

* Form 1-213, Record of Deportable/Inadmssible Alien, dated June 17, 2015.

*ICE Signilicant Incident Report, dated June 13, 2016.

* See 1d.

® See ICE Enforcement and Removal Module (EARM) Report for FINO, June 19, 2015.
7 See 1d

¥ See 1d.

? See 1d.

" Form 1-213, Record of Deportable/Inadmissible Alien, dated June 17, 20135,
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On June 22, 2015, at 4:11 p.m., upon his arrival ECCF,'" an ECCF booking officer completed
FINO’s Prison Rape Elimination Act (PREA) Risk Assessment'* and classification officer,

|used the ICE Custody Classification Worksheet to appropriately rate

FINO as high custody based on the severity of his most recent charge and conviction, his prior
convictions, and his history of assault.'"? ODO notes this rating was never approved by a
supervisor, as required by the ICE PBNDS 2011.

At 5:45 p.m., Licensed Practical Nurse (LPNl:l performed FINO’s medical pre-
screening and documented the following: '

e FINO reported no injuries, no physical limitations, and no allergies.
e FINO reported being previously prescribed Lipitor,"” Lopid,'® aspirin, Metformin,'” and
Novolin insulin."?

At 5:58 p.m., LPI\I:lperformed FINO’s full medical and mental health intake screening, and
documented the following;: '’

e FINO reported a history of high cholesterol, hypertension, and Type 1 diabetes.?® 2!
e FINO’s vital signs were within normal limits.
e FINO’s mental health examination was normal.
e FINO reported no history of smoking or substance abuse.

¢ FINO denied symptoms of tuberculosis. A chest x-ray was performed by ECCF’s mobile
x-ray service, Mobilex. The results ruled out active pulmonary disease and showed
normal size and contour of his heart.

FINO was scheduled for a next-day health assessment with a provider due to his chronic medical
conditions.

" See New Jersey County Correction Information System, [nmate Summary Report. dated June 22, 2015.

" See Essex County Department of Corrections Sexual Violence Screening Form, dated June 22, 2015. FINO was
determined to be at no risk of being a victim or perpetrator of sexual assault or abuse.

" See Exhibit 1: [CE Detainee Classification System — Primary Assessment Form, dated June 22, 2015,

" See Exhibit 2: Medical Prescreening by LPN| une 22, 2015.

" Medication to treat high cholesterol and triglycerides to reduce the risk of stroke, heart attack, and heart and blood
vessel problems.

' Medication similar to Lipitor, a commonly preseribed statin,

" Oral medication to treat diabetes.

"™ Long acting injectable insulin which helps control blood sugar in persons with diabetes.

" See Eixhibit 3: Initial Intake Screening Medical/Mental Health History, June 22, 2015,

* Child onset form of diabetes, in which the pancreas produces little or no normal insulin to move glucose into the
body’s cells Tor fuel.

*! During separate QDO interviews, Medical Director Dr. [ lind staff physician Drf~————]both
stated they believe FINO likely had Type 2 diabeles (o condition wherein the body is able to produce insulin, but it
is not efficiently used to control blood sugar), rather than Type 1. ODO could not aflirmatively determine whether
FINO reported he had Type 1 diabetes, or whether LPN[ histakenly documented Type 1 instead of Type 2.
During her interview, LPNl:ISIated she “assumed” she documented what the detainee reported, but she did not
recall trying to confirm whether FINO understood the difference between Type | and Type 2 diabetes.
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During her interview with ODO, LPN |:|;tated that because she believed FINO spoke and
understood English adequately, she conducted the medical pre-screening and the full medical
intake screening in English, without the assistance of an interpreter.22 During FINO’s detention,
only one patient encounter was completed using an interpreter. The medical staff interviewed
stated they completed encounters without an interpreter because FINO spoke and understood
sufficient English. All medical staff interviewed stated they use the langnage interpretation
service when a detainee’s English language proficiency is lacking or not sufficient to
competently complete the encounter. Health Services Administrator (HSA)| |
expressed confidence that medical staff utilize langnage services when necessary.”’

Following intake processing, FINO was assigned and transferred to bed 39% in Dorm 2.%* Dorm
2 1s a 60-bed, direct supervision barrack on the third floor of the facility, housing medium-high
and high security detainees. The correctional officer’s station consists of a desk and chair
situated adjacent to a concrete support pillar, just inside the dorm entrance door |

| According t0| |:1n investigator assigned to ECCF’s
Internal Affairs Bureau (IAB), there are approximately cameras throughout the interior and
exterior of the facility, includinf Essex County

Denartment of Corrections (ECDOC) Director Alfaro Ortiz stated that there arq

On June 23,2015, at9:19am.,. D] ]conducted FINO's practitioner health
assessment and documented the following:*®

e FINO appeared well nourished, well hydrated, and in no acute distress.

¢ FINO’s physical exam was normal.

o FINO was diagnosed with hypercholesterolemiazq and insulin-dependent diabetes.®

¢ FINO was assigned to the diabetes and dyslipidemia®' chronic care clinic and ordered a
2,400 calorie diabetic diet. Dif____ hlso ordered Accucheck ‘[es‘[ing"2 twice daily for
30 days, as well as Novolin, Metformin, low dose aspirin, Lopid, and Zocor.™

* ODO interview with LPN |:| August 10, 2016,

» ODO interview with Health Services Administratof_____ JAugust 9, 2016,

* Bed 39 is an upper bunk.

** See New Jersey County Correction Information System, [nmate Summary Report, Junc 22, 2015,

** DO interview with [nvestigator| |August 10, 2016. Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) Union
Representative | [ and Union C‘ounscl| |wcrc present for the interview.

> DO interview with Dircetor | I, August TT, 2074,

™ See Eixhibit 4: Medical Serceningby D[ June 23, 2015

* High levels of cholesterol in the blood.

¥ Creative Corrections notes that Type 1 diabeies is a chronic condition in which the pancreas produces litile or no
msulin o allow sugar to enter the cells to produce encrgy. People with Type 1 diabeles require insulin injections. In
Type 2 diabetes, the pancreas produces insulin, but it 18 not readily used by the body to transport sugar to the cells.
Pcople with Type 2 diabetes may require insulin injections, or may be able 1o control the condition with diet and/or
oral medication. Dr._— Tdiagnosis of insulin-dependent diabetes implics thai regardless ol whether FINO had
Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes, he believed al the time that insulin was necessary. ODO notes ihat during his interview,
Dr.[ tated he believed FINO was never Type 1.

! Abnormally high levels of fat and cholesterol in the blood.
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* A physician should be notified if FINO’s Accucheck blood sugars tested lower than 60 or
higher than 400.

ODO notes CFG Clinical Practice Guidelines for diabetes call for the completion of an
electrocardiogram (EKG) for patien‘[s.34 Dr.| did not order an EKG, nor did any of the
other providers who saw FINO for chronic care appointments throughout his detention. During
his interview with ODO, Medical Director Dr.l_iltated EKGs are performed once per year
for diabetes patients. He stated he is considering requiring that a baseline EKG be performed at
the time of the initial chronic care evaluation.”

On June 24, 2015, FINO’s lab results were electronically received and reviewed by Dr. |:|
and copied to a flow sheet.*® ODO notes the use of a flow sheet allows providers to efficiently
access and review laboratory and diagnostic results over the course of detention. FINO’s lab
results were normal, with the exception of an elevated blood glucose level for which he was
receiving diabetes medication.

On July 20, 2015, FINO was seen by Physician Assistant (PAi |in response to his
July 17, 2015 request for special shoes.”” PA[__ |stated she used the telephonic language
interpretation service during this encounter because she wanted to ensure accurate
communication between FINO and herself.>® FINO stated he required therapeutic shoes because
his feet were swollen as a combined result of diabetes and an old injury to his left foot. PA

[ linformed FINO that while she could not prescribe therapeutic shoes, she could refer him
to the podiatrist who would evaluate his need for special shoes.”” FINO subsequently became
angry and walked away, refusing an examination. A foot examination and collection of vital
signs were not completed.

Although PA™"]did not have the opportunity to assess FINO, she documented 4 treatment
plan which included finger stick blood sugar testing twice daily and administration of regular
insulin® based on a standardized sliding scale®' for a period of 30 days. The basis for this order
was not documented.

* Finger stick blood sugar test.

* A medication used to treat high cholesterol and triglycerides levels.

** A test that checks for problems with the cleetrical activity of the heart,

* ODO interview with Dr.| August 10, 2016.

* See Lab Report, June 24, 2015,

3 See 1d.

*ODO interview with PAL______ ] August 10, 2016, QDO notes this was the only medical encounter for
which an interpreter was utilized.

¥Dr.[____ Informed ODO that ECCF does nol permit providers to order specialized shoes for medical
conditions. Delainees who require special shoes are relened o the contract orthopedic physician. In addition (o
requiring an order by the orthopedic physician, special shocs must also be authorized by the Warden, and medical
staft must present a compelling case [or their need.

* Short acling insulin used (o augment long acting insulin when linger stick testing shows blood sugar is elevated.
The need 1o administer regular insulin and the dosc amount are detenmined using a standardized sliding scale.

*1 A scale which prescribes the dose of regular insulin to be given in accordance with the finger stick blood sugar
level obtained at the same time.
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On July 23, 2015, P/ keviewed the lab results ordered by Dif_____|during FINO’s
initial physical examination.”* PA | hoted FINO’s hemoglobin Alc result on June 23,
2015, was 8.4 percent,™ which is an abnormal level suggesting uncontrolled diabetes.** She also
noted that between June 23 and July 23, 2015, daily finger stick results showed FINO’s blood
sugars were well controlled, ranging from 120 to 159.% During her interview, PA stated
blood sugar levels in this range generally correlate to an Alc of 6 to 6.7 percent.* A urine test
done on July 23, 2015 showed glucose was abnormally present in FINO's urine, which is an
indicator of uncontrolled diabetes.

On Au%ust 24, 2015, FINO’s first reclassification review was conducted by Ofﬁced:l

! Officd___ hpplied two fewer points in the Prior Indictable Convictions
category than were applied during initial classification, and one fewer point than was initially
applied in the Serious Offense History category. As a result, FINO’s new score classified him as
medium custody. Officer |:|nevertheless recommended retaining FINO as high custody
based on his serious offense history, and an unspecified supervisor approved the override to do
so. Although ODO could not affirmatively determine why the points applied in the two
categories changed, it may be attributable to differences in the classification systems used by
ICE in the initial classification and ECCF in subsequent reclassifications.

On September 8, 2015, FINO was seen by NPl |f0r his initial chronic care
clinic appointment. NPl:} documented the following:™

e FINO denied chest pain, heart palpitations, shortness of breath, tachycardia,w dizziness,
diaphoresis,™ shaking, and changes in mental status.

e FINO had no medical concerns at that time.

e Vital signs were within normal limits.

e All assessment findings were normal.

Medications were continued as previously prescribed. NPl:I did not order an EKG
despite it being an outstanding requirement for FINQ as per the Clinical Practice Guidelines for
diabetes. Follow-up lab tests were ordered, and NP documented review of the results
on September 15, 2015.>" The results were normal and were discussed with FINO on that date.

* See Lab Results, June 24, 2016.

*# Per the Mayo Clinic, a normal hemoglobin Alc is less than 5.7 pereent. A hemoglobin Ale greater than 8 pereent
may bc scen in a patient who has had uncentrolled diabetes for a long time.

# [Temoglobin Alc are not specilic to Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes.

* ODO noles three daily finger stick readings taken between June 23 and July 23, 2015, were greater than 159.
* ODO interview with PAl_g:l’\ugusl 10, 2016.

¥ See New Jersey Correction Information Sysient, Custody Reassessment, August 24, 2015,

*# See Chronic Care Visit by NPI:'Scptcmbcr 8, 2015.

?q Rapid pulsc.

f” Excessive sweating.

*! See Lab Report, September 15, 2015,
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On October 21, 2015, FINO was seen by PA h response to the detainee’s request52 to
discontinue morning finger stick checks.” PA did not use an interpreter during this

encounter or for any subsequent encounters. During the encounter, FINO stated he was not
taking his insulin and his blood sugars remained well controlled. PA[C—— ponfirmed FINO’s
blood sugars were well controlled, but kept the detainee’s order for long acting insulin (Novolin)
active.

PAl ]noted she did not find any documentation of FINO’s insulin refusal in the electronic
medical record, but that after FINO’s visit, she discussed the issue with a nurse (identity
unknown), who confirmed that although FINO continued taking his oral medication, Metformin,
he consistently refused his insulin, Novolin. After speaking with the nurse, PA:"eviewed
FINO’s morning blood sugars, saw they were well controlled on the Metformin, and decided to
discontinue Novolin. She continued Metformin and with a note that insulin be given in the event
FINO's blood sugars elevated, based on finger stick testing and the standardized sliding scale.

ODO notes FINO’s Medication Administration Records (MARs) show the detainee refused over
100 insulin doses throughout July, August, September, and October of 2015.% Additionally, an
average of ten doses during each of those months were left blank on the MARs, making it
impossible to know whether FINO refused or accepted his dose on those dates. During her
interview with ODO, HSA|:| stated it is her expectation that detainees are referred to a
provider when three doses of the same medication are refused, and that a signed refusal form is
filed at that time.”® FINO was not referred to the provider for repeatedly refusing his long
acting insulin over the course of four months, and no refusal forms were found in his medical
record.

On October 26, 2015, FINO was seen by Dr|:|1 in response to his sick call request for
eyeglasses.”® FINO reported an inability to read documents over the past four months. An eye
chart examination found FINO’s vision to be 20/25, slightly less than normal visual acuity.” A
referral was sent to the optometrist.

On December 6, 2015, FINO was seen by PA fter submitting a sick call request for
painful and swollen feet during the past month.”® During the visit, FINO denied any previous
history of trauma or edema’’ and reported he was taking his medication as ordered. During the

> “There is no documentation of the date of this request, and it was likely a verbal request communicated during the
daily pill linc.

>* See Practitioner’s Sick Call by PA October 21, 2015,

* See FINO Mcdication Administration Record, July-October, 2015.

> DDO interview with HSA :P\ugust 9, 2016, [tis noted LCCF has no policy requiring that detainges arc
referred 1o a provider after relusing three doses ol a medication; however, the TISA stated she 1s eniphasizing the
practice as part of the quality improyome ogram lor medical stalT.

* See Practitioner’s Sick Call by Dlﬁl‘omobcr 26, 2015. The dale of FINO s sick call request is not
documented.

*" The clarily or sharpness of vision.
** See Practitioner’s Medical Record by PA cccmber 6, 2015, The dale of FINO's sick call request is not
documented.

* The medical term for swelling.
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encounter, PAI:"(Jund FINO had mild pitting edema® of both feet, as well as leg pain.
FINO was provided hydrochlorothiazide®' to treat the edema and was advised to keep his legs
elevated. P noted in the medical record that FINO should be assigned a bottom bunk as
part of the practitioner plan, but the detainee’s record contains no documentation security was
informed of the bunk assignment. PA‘:Ierered that FINO receive blood pressure checks
daily for one week and included an instruction for nurses to hold the detainee’s blood pressure
medication if his blood pressure was lower than 100/70. According to FINO's December MAR,
blood pressure checks were only completed three times during the following week: December
10, 11, and 13, 2015.% FINO’s blood pressure was within normal limits on each of the three
occasions. During her interview, HSA Istated blood pressure checks should always be done
when medications are given, and the results should be documented on a MAR.%

ODO notes that although FINO was due for a chronic care c¢linic appointment by December 8,
2015 (90 days following his last visit), PA[___ |closed out the chronic care appointment during
the December 6, 2015 sick call encounter, described above.** As noted, PAl_i}nedical
entry indicates she addressed the detainee’s complaint of edema and his elevated blood pressure
during the encounter; she did not address or assess his diabetes and dyslipidemia, the conditions
for which he was being monitored as a chronic care patient. She also did not order an EKG
which, as noted previously, is required under the CFG Clinical Practice Guidelines for
diabetes.”® An EKG is also required by the CFG Clinical Practice Guideline for hypertension. ®°
Because the December 8, 2015 90 day chronic care clinic appointment was closed out, FINO
was not due for another chronic care clinic appointment until April 4, 2016.%

On December 17, 2015, FINO was seen by PA[in response to a December 16, 2015 sick
call request in which he complained of not yet receiving a bottom bunk.*® P

documented she would resubmit the request that FINO be assigned a bottom bunk.* As noted,
the detainee’s record contains no documentation that the December 6, 2015 request regarding a
bottom bunk assignment was communicated to security staff; however, a Medical Transfer form
directed to Processing/Counts was completed and faxed to Master Control on the date of this
encounter, December 17, 2015.7

During this encounter, FINO also complained of pain under his right arm over the previous two
days, due to reaching to ascend the top bunk. Pbssessment findings, including those

| . . . . . .
* When pressurc is applied to a swollen arca, an indentation results and persists for some time after the release of

pressure. Pitting edema typically occurs as a result of fluid accumulation duc to the body’s retention of cxcess salt.
" Anti-hypertensive (high blood pressure) medication.

& See Medication Sheet & Administration Record, December 2015,

" ODO interview with HS Augusi 9, 2016.

“ ODO iterview with Physician Assislad:’/\ugusl 10, 2016.

** See CFG Clinical Practice Guidelines, 2015.

iy

See 1d.
mj See Practitioner’s Sick Call by PA December 6, 2015,
% See Practitioner’s Sick Call by PA December 17, 2015,
[0

See 1d.

" See Medical Transfer form, December 17. 2015.
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relating to arm pain, were documented as within normal limits. PAI:lordered the muscle
relaxant Flexeril for FINO and instructed the detainee to perform range of motion exercises, as
tolerated.

On December 23, 2015, FINO’s second reclassification review was completed by Ofﬁcer|:|

As with the first reclassification, fewer points were applied in two categories. resulting
in a rating of medium custody. A supervisor (identity unknown) approved Offices
recommendation to retain FINO at high custody.

On December 28, 2015, FINO was transferred from an upper to a lower bunk (bunk 12)‘Tz
0ODO notes this transfer occurred 22 days after PA first ordered that he be assigned a
lower bunk, and 11 days after the Medical Transfer form authorizing a bottom bunk was
provided to Master Control. During his interview, Dr.[_____ Jstated he concurred fully with
the lower bunk order, but there are often challenges to fulfilling these orders.” Specifically, Dr.
tated security staff often require medical staff to provide a justification for a bunk
transfer, and sometimes are unable to fulfill such requests due to unavailability of bottom bunks.

On January 18, 2016, FINO was seen by Dif____ ]in response to his same day sick call
request for flu-like symptoms.” The only vital sign taken was temperature, which was normal.
FINO was diagnosed with allergic rhinitis”* and prescribed Chlor-Trimeton’® for 14 days.

On Fcbhruary 21, 2016, a third reclassification review was completed by Officer

" As with the first and second reclassifications, a lower point total resulted in a rating
of medium custody. A supervisor (identity unknown) again approved retaining FINO at high
custody.

On March 7, 2016, FINO was seen by Dr‘:in response to a same day sick call complaint
of watery eyes, runny nose, and throat pain which the detainee rated at a level two on a scale of

zero to ten.”® His vital signs were normal. He was diagnosed with recurring allergic rhinitis and
prescribed Chlor-Trimeton for 14 days.

On April 4, 2016, FINO received his second chronic care clinic assessment (the first since
September 8, 2015) from NP| IDuring the assessment, FINO reported compliance
with medications and exercise, and denied chest pain, palpitations, shortness of breath,
tachycardia, increased urination, thirst, or hunger. Assessment findings were normal, and no
recurrence of edema to the lower extremities was noted. FINO denied having any

7! See New Jersey Correetion Information System, Custody Reassessment, December 23, 2015,
" See Cell Assignment Sheet, December 28, 2015.

™ ODO interview with Drl |Augusl 10, 2016.

™ See Practitioner’s Sick Call by Dn| [January 18, 2015.

 Seasonal allergies or hay [ever.

* Allergy medication.

" See New Jersey County Correction Information System, Cuslody Reassessment, February 21, 2016.

™ See Practitioner’s Sick Call by Dr March 7, 2016.
" See Chronic Care Visit by NP April 4, 2016.
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hypoglycemic™ episodes since his visit. FINO’s vital signs were all within normal limits. NP
|_Y-L—Ly_brdered continuation of FINO’s current medications, with the exception of
hydrochlorothiazide, as well as blood pressure monitoring on an indefinite basis.

During the assessment, FINO informed NP[[ lthat he saw an optometrist in January and
was presctibed glasses but never received them. NP| |documented that a note in
FINO’s chart showed the detainee saw an optometrist on January 19, 2016 and received a
prescription for glasses. NP‘:'(Jgged a note in the medical record stating she would
follow up with the assistant HSA and the administrative assistant regarding FINO’s prescription
eyeglasses.

On April 5,2016, NP[ Jealled FINO to the clinic to follow up on his request for
eyeglasses.m She informed the detainee that ICE denied his request for eyeglasses because there
was no clinical indication for them. NP[__ pncouraged FINO to purchase eyeglasses,
strength +2.0,% from the commissary. FINO agreed with the plan of care and verbalized his
understanding. ODO notes that contrary to what NP | btated, ICE did not deny the
request. The Immigration Health Services Corp Medical Payment Authorization Request
(MedPAR) for prescription eyeglasses was closed upon notification by ECCF that reading
glasses of the strength he needed were available through commissary.™

On May 22, 2016, a fourth reclassification review was completed by Office # As with
the previous three reclassifications, a lower point total resulted in a rating of medium custody. A
supervisor (identity unknown) again approved retaining FINO at high custody.

On June 3, 2016, a chest x-ray was performed on FINO to screen for 'I“uberculosis,85 n
accordance with the ICE PBNDS 2011 requirement to perform chest x-rays annually.* The
following day, Drl:blectronica]]y signed FINO's medical record documenting the
detainee had normal chest x-ray results, without TB.

There were no subsequent patient encounters until the day of FINO’s death.
June 13, 2016, Day of Death

The following narrative chronicles the events of June 13, 2016, based on written documentation,
verbal reports of involved security and medical staff, and video surveillance footage from
cameras covering the corridor outside FINO’s dorm (Dorm 2), and cameras showing portions of
the route taken by responding medical staff. ODO notes there are no cameras within FINO’s
dorm.

* Low blood sugar.

" See Practitioner’s Sick Call by NP| | April 5,2016.

x Reading glasses of mid-sirength on a scale of +1.00 1o +3.25.

%3 See MedPar regarding FINO's cyeglass prescription dated January 19, 2016.

* See New Jersey Countly Correction Information System, Custody Reassessment, May 22, 2016,

** An infectious bacterial disease characterized by the growth of nodules in the tissues, especially the lungs.
% See TB Test Results by Registered Nurse (RN , June 6, 2016.

10
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On June 12, 2016, Ofﬂcer| |was assigned to Dorm 2 from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.
on June 13, 2016. Office| logged that he completed security rounds precisely at the top of
each hour and at exactly 30 minutes past each hour; for example, at 1:00 a.m., 1:30 a.m., and
2:00 am." Performing security rounds in this manner are in violation of the Essex County
Department of Corrections (ECDC) Housing Unit Post Orders which require that ICE detainees
be personally observed by an officer twice per hour, but no more than forty minutes apart, on an
irregular schedule all housing units.*® ODO reviewed randomly selected logs from Dorm 2,
and found Ofﬁcerﬂugged completion of security rounds precisely on the hour and half
hour on at least one other date, June 7, 2016.%

At 5:30 a.m. on June 13, 2016, Officer| logged a security round in Dorm 2.7 At
5:39 a.m., a nurse (identity unknown) entered Dorm 2 to collect sick call requests and departed
the dorm seconds later.”' At 5:43 a.m. Ofﬁce|:|exited Dorm 2, leaving it unsupervised;92
the video surveillance footage does not show another officer arriving to relieve him, nor is there
a logbook entry documenting Ofﬁcer:peparture or relief by another officer. Office
returned to Dorm 2 at 5:47 a.m.”® Detainees in Dorm 2 were left unsupervised for approximately
four minutes and 27 seconds. ODO notes the Essex County Department of Corrections Rules
and Regulations Manual prohibits leaving detainees “unattended and unsupervised at any time,
unless dictated by department policy or at the command of the appropriate super\»’isory."(’14
Further, ECCF’s General Housing Unit Post Order states ““all ECDOC staff members are
prohibited from leaving their assigned posts without being properly relieved or otherwise
dismissed by a superior officer.””

During his interview with ODO, Ofﬁcer;l stated that at 5:45 a.m. on June 13, 2016, he heard
an intercom announcement for line-up, signitying the oncoming shift was gathering for check-in
and assignments.”® Office |stated he then turned on the main dorm lights and did a “walk
around,” although review of the logbook found no entry documenting this action (the last round
Officer Elocumented was at 5:30 a.m.). Ofﬁcerlzlstated FINO was on his bunk during
his final undocumented walk around. ODO notes that althongh Officer | ktated during his

*" See Dorm 2 logbook, June 12-13, 2016.

* Creative Corrections notes that making rounds precisely 30 minutes apart is not a sound security practice as it
allows for detainees to conform their behavior to the timing of the rounds. The most effective means of preventing
sexual assaults, other assaults, escape attempts and other rule violations is for detainees to be unable to predict when
an officer may come by their arca.

¥ See Dorm 2 logbook, Junc 7, 2016.

" See Dorm 2 logbook, June 13, 2016.

1 See video surveillance footage, June 13, 2016, and Dorm 2 loghaook, Junc 13, 2016. Although ECCF is in the
Eastern Time zone, the time stamp on all video footage is sct to Central Standard Time. The times for video
referenced in this report have been adjusted (o Eastern Standard Time.

¥2 See video surveillance footage, June 13, 2016.

¥ See 1d.

" See Essex Countly Department of Corrections Rules and Regulations Manual, section 3:8.13, CONSTANT
SUPERVISION.

** See ECCF General Housing Unit Post Order.

* ODO interview with Correctional 0fﬁcsr| | August 9, 2016. Policeman’s Benevolent Association
(PBA} union representatiy hind attorney| prere present for the interview.
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interview that he conducted the walk around at 5:45 a.m., video surveillance footage shows that
Officer :Lvas not in Dorm 2 at 5:45. Since he never made another security round after 5:45
a.m., according to both his log and his statement during interview, his final round must have
been completed prior to leaving Dorm 2 at 5:43 a.m.

During this observation round, Ofﬁcer:ktated he pulled down any sheets left hanging on the
bunk beds from the previous night.”” Officer[ ___ Jstated detainees often hang the sheets in
order to keep the dorm lights from interfering with their sleep. ODO notes the ECCF Inmate
Handbook and Disciplinary Rulebook, most recently revised on January 14, 2016, specifically
prohibits detainees from hanging sheets on their bunks.”® Further, the ECCF Housing Unit Post
Orders maintain it is the responsibility of the officer to enforce inmate and detainee rules and
regulations.% During his interview with ODO, Sergeant | ptated detainees are not
permitted to hang blankets or sheets, but he is aware that some officers allow them to do so. 1o
Sergeanq_d__‘__|stated that allowing detainees to obstruct the view of security staff increases
the risk an o_o%ortunity for a suicide attempt or an assault to occur. This information was shared

with Director t the conclusion of the site visit, who stated corrective actions would be
immediately taken.

During his interview with ODO, Ofﬁcelzl stated after he made his 5:45 a.m. round, he sat at
his desk waiting to be relieved from his post. 1 While waiting, he heard a detainee say aloud,
“What are you doing?” Ofﬁcerl walked in the direction of the voice, also the direction of
FINO’s bunk, which was approximately 15 feet from the officer’s desk, to see what was
happening. Officer Dtated he observed FINO’s upper body on the floor, face up, with his
feet and lower body still on his bunk. Officer tated he then walked back to his desk and
used the telephone to notify Master Control of a medical emergency. Officer[ logged the
time of the call as 5:45 a.m. which, as noted, was the time he reported to ODO that he conducted
an observation round.'* More significantly, video surveillance footage of the corridor outside
Dorm 2 shows he was not in the dorm at that time at all.'®

0ODO notes Ofticenil:hecision to use the telephone to call a medical emergency, rather than
to use the radio on his person is in contravention of facility policy. The ECCF Housing Unit
Post Orders state “in the event of an emergency situation, report the conditions and/or
circumstances to Center Control by the most expeditions means possible...and then take
reasonable action to arrest the situation or to remove the persons from harm until such time as
more specific instruction from supervisory personnel/Center Control is received.”'" Calling a

'y
* See [d.

" See ECCF Inmate Iandbook and Disciplinary Rulebook, revised January 14, 2016.

" See ECCF Tousing Unit Post Orders.

" ODO interview with Scrgcan' I\ugusl 10, 2016.
"' ODO interview with Correciional OlTicer] hugust 9, 2016, PBA umon rcprcscnlalivci:ll
and atlorney pere present for (he intervicw.

* See Dorm 2 logbook, Junc 13, 2016.
3 See video surveillance footage, June 13, 2016.
'™ See ECCF Housing Unit Post Orders.
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medical emergency by radio would have been more expeditious than walking back to the desk to
nse the telephone.

Lieutenant|:’ posted to Master Control at the time of Officer [ Jtelephone call,
logged the time of the call and subsequent announcement of a Code White (medical emergency)
over the intercom system as occurring at 5:54 a.m.'™ This timing, which is nine minutes later
than the time logged by Ofﬁcerlj is supported by events observed on the video surveillance
footage.

Ofﬁcer:l'eported that after calling Master Control, he walked back to the scene and found
FINO lying on the floor next to his bunk while another detainee, | | performed chest
compressions on FINO.'" Officeq] |stated lappeared in control of the situation and
was doing what Officer :believed Wwas necessary. Ofﬁce:l stated he did not intervene
because a recent ECCF refresher class in cardio pulmonary resuscitation (CPR) instructed
officers that chest compuressigns should be taken over only if the person performing them
becomes tired. Office acknowledged that at no time after discovering FINO on the floor
did he check for a pulse. He also acknowledged he did not know or inquire whether :lwas
certified in CPR.

[ Jwas assigned to a bunk diagonal to FINO. ODO interviewed[ ___ jwho stated that
during the night of June 12-13, 2016, FINO was awake until around 4:00 a.m., which was
unusual. m‘istated that when he heard FINO make a lond noise, as if he was going to
vomit, he looked over and observed FINO leaning out of his bed. [_____|got up and helped
FINO to the floor. [ tated because FINO had a faint pulse but no breath, he initiated chest
compressions which he continued until ordered to return to his bunk, as described below.

During their interviews with ODO, both Dr. :Iand D{_ [tated they were surprised
when they heard a detainee was permitted to perform CPR, and both stated it was not
appropriate. 108 Dr.:lstated that even if trained, a detainee should not have been allowed to
perform CPR. ODO notes in addition to failing to initiate action as a first responder and
allowing____ b continue CPR, Officer[__h took no action to secure the area, including

directing other detainees to move away.

During his interview, Office[____ btated that the first responder to arrive in Dorm 2 following
the Code White call was Officer | |he was quickly followed by medical staff and
Sergeant | [ 01T deo surveillance footage shows that at 5:55 a.m.,
approximately one minute after the Code White was called, two officers were standing in the

5 See Master Control log, Junc 13, 2016.

% ODO intorview with Correctional Officed August 9, 2016, PBA union reprosentative] |
[ Jand attorne| Jwere present for the intervicw.

" ODO interview with detained ] August 10, 2016.

104 interview with Medical Director Dr. |:| August 10, 2016: ODO interview with D1'.|:|

August 10, 2016.
Sergean Ivas nol available for interview during the sile visil.

ODO interview with Correctional Officer| fAugust 9, 2016. PBA Local 382 president |
nd union counsel ] pvere present for the interview.

116
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corridor looking into Dorm 2, while a third officer walked through the corridor past Dorm 2.
None of these officers responded to the Code White. ODO was unable to identify any legitimate
reason why none of the three ofticers responded. Facility command staff, including Director
Ortiz and the facility’s ICE Program Directoxl | stated it 1s their expectation that
all available officers respond to a Code White.”'' ODO notes ECCF’s General Housing Unit
Post Order states, “In the event of an emergency situation,” and officer shall “report the
conditions and/or circumstances to Center Control by the most expeditious means possible...and
then take reasonable action to arrest the situation or to remove persons from harm until such time
as more specific instruction from supervisory personnel/Center Control is received.” Further, the
facility’s Emergency Response Policy, section (IV)(C), states, “In the event of an emergency
condition, the staff member who first becomes aware of the incident shall immediately alert
Master Control (Center Control) in the most expeditious means possible,” and “immediately
thereaﬁcq:r. ..take action necessary to preserve life and limb, to protect property, and to restore
order.” *

Office as assigned to work Dorm 2, his regular assignment, from 6:00 a.m. to 2:00
p.m. on June 13, 2016. During his interview with ODO, Officer[ ]stated he heard the Code
White call during morning line-up,'"? and once morning line-up concluded, he walked to Dorm 2
to assume his post.’'* At 5:57:12 a.m., approximately three minutes after the Code White was
called, Office] — lentered Dorm 2. 5" The video surveillance footage from the corridor
camera shows Officey hipproaching the dorm in an unhurried manner. " ODO notes
Officer| [eported to the dorm because it was his post; not in response to the medical
emergency.

At 5:57:34 a.m., a uniformed staff person, presumed to be Sergeant;’ entered the
dorm.'"” Although Sergea:vas not available for interview, documents and
interviews with other staff suggest he simply observed the response and did not participate.

Upon arrival in Dorm 2, Ofﬁceq mmediately ordered a group of detainees who had
gathered in the area around FINO to return to their bunks. ¥ At this time, discontinued

" Discussed during ODO site visit closeout with ECCF and ERO leadership. August |1, 2016,

"1 Creative Corrections notes that just as law enforcement officers and fire fighters are considered “first responders™
and arc expected to initiate life-saving carc, so too are correctional officers. More often than not, they are more
proximate to detainces than medical personnel. The fact that no officers responded during shift change, the time
when the mast seeurity staff arc present in the facility, and that several officers stood in the hallway and watched, or
simply walked past the sitc of the medical emergencey, suggests it 15 not an unusual practice for sceurity staff to fail
to respond to a medical cvent.

1 Also known as “roll call,” when the oncoming shift gathers to receive their post assignments and to receive any
mformation they need to know about significant events during the previous shifl, as well as any planned evenits [or
their shili. Tt 18 noted because the olT-going shifl is still on post, and the incoming shifl is now presend, “line-up™ i
the time during a shift when a facility has the most officers present at one time.

" ODO interview with Correctional Officer | August 9,2016. PBA local 382 preside] |

and union counscll |vcrc present [or the mterview.
17 See video surveillance foolage, June 13, 2016.

" See 1d.

"7 See 1d.
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CPR in order to comply with Ofﬁcel | orders. Afterl |st0pped performing chest
compressions, neither Ofﬁcel h:)r Officer| thecked FINO’s pulse to determine if
CPR should be continued.'"” Officer[_ stated that although he is trained in CPR, during a
medical emergency, he calls Master Control to initiate a Code White and then waits for medical
personnel to arrive. He does not initiate CPR on his own. 120

During his interview with ODO, Lieutenant I:tommander of Training and

Professional Services, stated correctional officers are trained to start CPR only if the area is

121

secure. Lieutenant urther stated that because the dorms at Essex do not have cells, an
officer who is alone in a dorm should not initiate CPR. This position was confirmed by
Lieutenant| |‘2 HSA [Jstated custody staff do not initiate CPR at ECCF and are

generally hands off regarding medical emergencies. 123 Similarly, Dr.[____ kpoke to what he
called officers’ reluctance to performm CPR and noted the medical department endeavors to
compensate for it by continually working to improve the response time of medical personne
He acknowledged that because minutes and even seconds matter in a medical emergency, he
supports officers initiating CPR.

124
.

At 5:57:39 a.m., in response to the Code White call, PA hnd RN

[ lentered the first floor elevator with an empty gurney, automated external defibrillator
(AED), and emergency bag, while LPN| Ind Pharmacy Technician |
took the stairs to Dorm 2 (Dorm 2 is on the third floor of the facility, and the medical unit 1s on

’_Lhﬂkﬂ_ﬂ.aoﬂi'thﬁ_elevatoﬂ |
The medical team waited inside the elevator for 23 seconds before

security closed the door at 5:58:02 a.m. 126 At 5:58:16 a.m., the medical staff exited the elevator
and walked toward the dorm. At 5:58:57 a.m., medical staff arrived on the scene and entered

Dorm 2 with the gurney, approximately four and half minutes after the Code White was
called.'”’

"% ODO interview with Correctional Ofﬁced |Au rust 9. 2016, ODO interview with Correctional
Officef ] August9,2016. PBA Local 382 pre5|dent|_:|md union counsel|

were present for the interviews,

119
1d.
" ODO interview with Correctional Ofﬁce: August9.2016. PBA local 382 president[ ]
and union counse] ere present for the interview.
L ODO interview with Licutenant |:|August 10, 2016, FOP union cmmscll Iwax

present for the interview.
2 ODO interview with Licutcnantl |August 10, 2016, FOP union rcpl‘cscntatiw‘:'md
union counsel | [were present for the intervicw.,

1 ODO interview with Health Services Administratol ] August 9, 2016,

1 ODO interview with Medical Dircetor Dr[_ Jugust 10, 2016.

¥ ODO interview with Registered Nurse | [August 9, 2016; Licensed Practical Nursd |
[ JAugust 9,2016; Licensed Practical Nurse hugust 9, 2016; PAL__________ Jwas nol
available for interview during the site visit; surveillance video.

2 . S, -
1% See video surveillance foolage, June 13, 2016.

127 Although a response meframe is not dircetly prescribed, the ICE PBNDS 2011, Medical Care, scetion
(VI(R)(1){e), stales that “all detention and health care personnel shall be (rained annually (o respond to health-
related situations within four minutes.”™ ODO notes the ECCF medical team made a concerted effort to respond to
FINO in a timely manner, but were delayed by the elevator which may only be operated by security staff in Master
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When the responding medical staff arrived in Dorm 2, FINO was on the floor and was
unresponsive.'” An initial assessment found: '**

e afaint pulse,

¢ fixed and dilated pupils, and

e an elevated blood sugar of 148, low blood oxygen at 86 percent,130 and low respirations
of four.

ODO was unable to determine through interviews or documentation whether FINO was still
breathing when medical staff arrived. Medical staff placed FINO onto the gurney and provided
oxygen, and the medical team departed Dorm 2 for the medical unit."”’

At 6:02:08 a.m., approximately three minutes after arriving at the scene, the medical team exited
the dorm with FINO on the gurney."* During her interview with ODO, LPN:lstated that
rather than entering the elevator, she stopped at the Dorm 2 ofticer’s desk and called Master
Control to inform security that FINO would need to go to the hospital.'> At 6:03:05 a.m., the

rest of the medical team entered the elevator with FINO.'** The elevator door remained open for
40 seconds |

I'he elevator door closed at U343 a.m.

During his interview with ODO, RN| stated the battery in the automated external
defibrillator (AED), 136 which was connected to FINO after he was placed on the gurney, shifted
out of position more than once during the trip back to the medical unit, hindering its ability to
operate. Pllﬁ attributed the problem with the battery to the AED being moved around during
transport.

At 6:04:18 a.m., the medical staff exited the elevator on the first floor and pushed the gurney
carrying FINO towards the medical unit.”*® At 6:05:18 a.m., medical staff entered a curtained
examination room and placed an intravenous (IV) line in FINOs right forearm.'"

Control. ECCF's Emergency Response policy, section (1V)(G)(1)(a), states, “Master control will make an elevator
(51 or 52) available for responding medical personnel and their equipment.”

1% See Lixhibit 5 Practitioner Urgent/L:mergent Care by PA‘:ldatcd Junc 13, 2016; QDO intervicws
with CFG medical staff, August 8-11, 2016,

1 See 1d.

" Normal blood oxygen levels are considered 95-100 pereent.

¥ See Lixhibit 5.

12 See video surveillanee footage, June 13, 2016
¥ ODO interview with Licensed Practical Nursq Nugust 9, 2016
13 See video surveillance foolage, Junc 13, 2016
1 See 1d.

¥ An AED is a portable device that checks the heart thythm and can send an clectric shock o the heart to try (o
]rgﬂslorc a normal thythm.

T ODO inlerview with R‘{ |Augusl 9,2016.

' See video surveillance footage, June 13, 2016.

'™ See video surveillance footage. See Provider note by RN |:'mted June 13,2010,
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P/:l documented that at approximately 6:09 a.m., medical staff attempted to get a pulse
from FINQ, but no pulse was detected. 140 During his interview, RN|jstated he and

another member of the medical team (identity unknown) took turns performing chest
compressions, and that 15 shocks were delivered by AED prior to the arrival of Emergency
Medical Services (EMS). 1 ODO notes no medical staff was designated to record and document
the events and actions taken during the emergency response.

While medical staff responded to FINO, Lieutenantl:tn Master Control facilitated a three-
way call between a medical staff member (identity unknown), the 911 call center, and herself. 142
During her interview with ODO, Lieutenant stated that following the 911 call, she selected

Officerf  Jand to escort FINO and the ambulance to the hospital.'*’

At 6:09 am., Sergeant:alled a “Code Green” over his radio signifying to facility staff
that the emergency in Dorm 2 was over. '

At 6:20 a.m., the first of two ambulances arrived; the second arrived at 6:21 am. 45 EMS
personnel arrived in the medical unit at 6:23:52 a.m. ¢ ODO notes their arrival was
approximately 12 minutes after the 911 call was made. During his interview with ODO, RN
r&lstated that in his experience, EMS typically arrives within approximately five minutes
of being fﬁ“ed; 147 HSAl reported the typical response time is between nine and 15
minutes.

FINO's care was immediately turned over to the EMS responders upon their arrival.'™ During
his interview with ODO, RNbstated EMS responders replaced the IV line and AED with
their own equipment.m EMS responders continued performing CPR on FINO until they
departed. ™' Pg.:\vas notified of the medical emergency once EMS took control of
FINO’s care. ~

At 6:38:27 a.m., the EMS responders exited the medical unit with FINO on a gurney, and at
6:46:59 a.m., the ambulance departed ECCF.'" Office accompanied FINO in the

" See Exhibit 5.
"L ODO interview with RN August 9, 2016.
"2 ODO interview with Lieutenan] hugust 10, 2016. FOP union representative[  pnd

union counsel were present for the interview.  See also Shift Commander Log notation by
Licutcnan lunc 13, 2016.
" ODO interview with Licutenand IAugust 10, 2016, FOP union representative |:|and

union counsel (I erc present for the intervicw.
' See Scrgeant] Jncident Report, dated June 13, 2016.
"% See Shift Commander log notation by Licutenant |:'unc 13,2016
14 See video surveillance foolage, Junc 13, 2016.

7 ODO inlerview with RN August 9, 2016.

" ODO interview with IIS;’SL};USI 9,2016.

" See Exhibit 5.

" ODO interview with RN { | August 9, 2016.
"*! See Exhibit 5.

'2 See Provider note by RNL______]dated June 13, 2016.

'3 See video surveillance footage, June 13, 2016.
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ambulance while Ofﬁcer“':'followed in a chase vehicle. ODO notes Ofﬁce:ldid not
complete an incident report.

At 6:55am., Sergean:lped off the area around FINO’s bunk. "> During his
interview with ODO, Sergeant [ |stated he was in his office when the Code White was
called.”” He reported that after stopping at the medical unit, he went to Dorm 2 and spoke to
detaines who was assigned to the bunk above FINO.[ ] stated to
Sergean) [that FINO appeared fine the night before and stayed up watching a movie
until approximately 2:00 a.m. 156

At 7:02 a.m., the ambulance carrying FINO arrived at UMDR, 137 and at 7:07 a.m., FINO was
pronounced dead by a UMDR physician, '

Lieutenant[___ Incident report states she was notified by Ofﬁcer:Pf FINO’s death at
7:08 a.m. and subsequently notified Lieutenant[ '™ Lieutenant[____Jthen notified the
Warden and ICE Program Director[___]'""

Ofticer documented that at 9:41 a.m., FINO's body was “(:]f:ared"“"1 by Lieutenant
f the Essex County Prosecutor’s Office.'* At 9:51 a.m., Supervisory
Detention and Deportation Officer (SDDO)| hotified the Consulate General of

Honduras in New York City of FINO’s de; o3 2:40 p.m., ICE, with the assistance of the
Consulate, notified FINO’s adult daughter| f her father's death.'®* At 9:56 a.m., the
Medical Examiner took custody of FINO’s body. '®

ECCEF Internal Aftfairs Investigation

During his interview with ODO, Sergeant | lsupervisor of the ECCF Special
Investigations Division/Internal Affairs Bureau (SID/IAB), stated he was notified of FINO’s
death at 9:00 a.m. on June 13, 2016. '°® He stated he then notified the Essex County Prosecutor’s

" See Dorm 2 logbook, Junc 13, 2016.

'S ODO interview with Sergeant | |August 11, 2016.
L3¢ vas deported prior o ODO’s site visit and could not be interviewed. ODO interview with Scrgeant
ugust 11,2016,

7 See c-mail message from LicutcnanDo ICE Program [)ircctt)r:l sent at 10045 a.n. on June 30, 2016.

% See Lixhibit 6: Ofﬁccrglncidcnt Report, dated Junc 13, 2016, See afso c-mail message from
al

-

Licutcnant o Lircetor ., sent June 13, 2016, at 7:24 am.

" See Licutcnar‘ |ncidcnt ne 13, 2016.
O ODO interyiew with ienten: August 10, 2016. FOP union representative I:land

union counsel were present for the interview.
il - T T = .
*' ODO did not inlerview Llculcnanl_:lmd cannol speculate as o what “clearing” the body means.

%2 See Exhibit 6.

1% See c-mail message from SDDO I:_mjlunc 13, 2016.

1% See -mail megsage from ICE Asststant Field Office Dircctor [ o ECCF Director [ Jand ICE
Program Dirccmﬂilcm June 13, 2016, at 1:16 p.m. EST.

"% See Shift Commander log notation by Licutenant[— | June 13, 2016

% ODO interview with Sergeant [ [ugust 10, 2016. FOP union 1‘epresemativ4:’and union
counse| lvere present for the interview.
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Office and took reports from Lieutenanl:l&rgeanﬂ:Lnd Officer I:lSergeant

id not obtain reports from responding medical staftf at the facility. During his interview
with ODO, lnvestigatorl the assigned investigator, stated that although he was the
on-call investigator on June 13, 2016, the notification of FINO’s death went directly to Sergeant

|_—_’ He stated once notified, he reviewed FINO’s electronic facility records for

information related to his criminal history and time in custody. Investigator C_Jso requested
video surveillance footage for the dorm and the adjacent hallways spanning the hours of 5:00
a.m. to 10:00 a.m. on June 13, 2016.' Investigato stated additional information gathered
for the investigation included FINO’s medical record, the complete roster for Dorm 2, the dorm
logbook, officers’ reports, and staff schedules. He froze FINO’s funds account and secured his
property in the IAB office as directed by ERO. On June 22, 2016]___ Feceived FINO's
property and funds (8§5.05) and signed an [AB form acknowledging their receipt.

0ODO was provided with a copy of the six page IAB Investigation Report dated June 21, 2016,
signed by both lnvestigator| |and Sergeant :IThe report documents that Sergeant

|.)f the Essex County Prosecutor’s Office (ECPO) Professional Standards
Bureau (PSB) and ECPO Crime Scene Detective responded to ECCF on June
13, 2016 at approximately 9:30 a.m. ' [CE OPR Senior Special Agents| | and
hlso responded. The IAB report indicates the responding group visited Dorm
2 to photograph the scene, collect logbooks and reports, and interview detainees.'° During his
interview with ODO, Investigator stated Sergeant elected ten detainees to
interview, choosing them based on their proximity to FINO at the time of the vemeqr_%”I

Sergeant:.lltimately interviewed only five detainees, inc]udin% detaine ]:l The

interviews were audio recorded and were observed by Investigato

The [AB Investigation Report documented the following conclusions: all witness statements
were consistent with the fact that FINO was not assaulted while in Dorm 2 on the day of the
incident; FINO leaned over from his bed on the moming of June 13, 2016, and had a medical
emergency; and, witnesses reported that a Sergeant and medical staff responded to FINO and he
was removed from Dorm 2 by medical staft.

Both Sergean:Lnd Direcwl:lstated that the IAB is responsible for determining if any
policy violations occurred as part of their investigation; however, the report includes no other
conclusions and does not indicate whether or not any violations of policy were identified. '’

T ODO interview with lnvcstigam‘:'ﬁ'\ugust 10,2016, FOP union rcprcscntatiw:l and

union counsel |vcrc present for the intervicw.

168

1% See IADB Investigation Report, dated June 21, 2016.

" See 1d.

"L ODO inlerview with 801'gca11l|:| August 10, 2016. FOP union representativ |a11d union
counsd | were present for the interview.

"2 ODO inlerview with Sergcant | ; l.ugusl 10, 2016. FOP union represenlative nd union
counsl }were present for the interview; ODO interview with Director| August 11,
2016.
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Sergea stated the IAB report was submitted to Directo nd that an addendum
would be submitted upon receipt of the autopsy results. Direct tated he had not yet

reviewed the IAB report.'”

During his interview with ODO, lnvestigatul Lhared the followine recommendations and
observations not captured in the [AB report have made it
possible to review the incident and response#ofﬁcer in a 60-bed dorm may be insufficient
coverage, and notification to the IAB of FINO's death was delayed.'™

Post-Death Events

On June 14, 2016, an autopsy was conducted by| |MD, Assistant Medical
Examiner, Northern Regional Medical Examiner Office. 17> FINO’s manner of death was
determined to be natural, due to hypertensive and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease with

congestive heart failure. A New Jersey Department of Heath Certificate of Death was issued
November 3, 2016.'7

Directo@f':‘ormed ODO that ECCF did not prepare an after-action report. Director] |
and Dr. eld a meeting following FINO’s death, attended b HSA ] Director of
Nursing| land Shift Commander Lieutenantli’ 7 Surveillance
footage of the corridors showing the medical and custody staff response was reviewed during the
meeting. Director] ___ Ptated he was not fully satisfied with the urgency in response from
responding medical staff. He did not comment on the reluctance of security staff to respond or
assist, only stating that in future situations he would like the shift supervisor to report to the

7
scene. 17

HSAI:linformed ODO that an internal Mortality and Morbidity review was conducted with
CFG and ECCF staff. '" As a result of this review, five AEDs were replaced or upgraded, and
oxygen gauges were upgraded. HSA I:lstated medical documentation was an area also
needing improvement. During her interview, Dd;ltated timely performance of EKGs
was identified as an area requiring improvement. *~ Both HSA[ _pnd Dr. {____ Ftated the
Mortality and Morbidity review identified medical response time and the medical response itself
as strengths.

HEALTHCARE AND SECURITY REVIEW

]ij QDO interview with Lirgetor IS 0l6.
"™ ODO interview with Investigaton| August 10, 2016, FOP union l'CprCSCDIaIiV'l:JHd

union counsel| Jwere present for the interview.
'™ See Exhibit 7: Autopsy Report.

'™ See Exhibit 8: Certificate of ez
"7 ODO interview with Director ugust 11, 2016.

178 1.
Id.
'™ ODO interview with HSAC__] August 9. 2016.
' ODO interview with Medical Directo ] August 10, 2016.
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ICE contract SMEs from Creative Corrections Creative Corrections found ECCF did not fully
comply with the requirements of ICE PBNDS 2011 Standards on Medical Care, Custody
(lassification System, and Facility Security and Control. The Creative Corrections Medical and

Security Compliance Analysis is included as an Exhibit to this report.

151

FINDINGS

ODO found ECCF deficient in the following areas of the ICE PBNDS 2011:

1.

ICE PBNDS 2011, Medical Care, section (V)(A)(2) states, “Every facility shall directly
or contractually provide its detainee population with the following: 2) Medically
necessary and appropriate medical, dental and mental health care and pharmaceutical
services.”
¢ Although required by Clinical Practice Guidelines, an EKG was not conducted
during the term of FINO’s detention.
e A quarterly chronic care clinic was not conducted as scheduled on December 8,
2015.
e Nurses failed to carry out blood pressure checks the week of December 6-12,
2015, as ordered by the provider.

ICE PBNDS 2011, Medical Care, section (V)(G)(12) states, “Each detention facility shall
have and comply with written policy and procedure for the management of
pharmaceuticals, to include: documentation of accountability for administering or
distributing medications in a timely manner, and according to licensed provider orders.”
e Over a period of approximately four months, a provider was not notified of
FINO’s refusal to take long-acting insulin, and refusal forms were not completed.
¢ During the period of July 1 to October 31, 2015, over 40 insulin doses were not
documented as having been given, refused, or otherwise accounted for.

ICE PBNDS 2011, Custody Classification System, section (V)(A)(4) states, “Each
detainee’s classification shall be reviewed and approved by a first-line supervisor or
classification supervisor.”
e A supervisor did not approve the initial classification completed on FINO on June
22, 2015.

ICE PBNDS 2011, Facility Security and Control, Section (V){(D)(2) states, “No detainee
may ever be given authority over, or be permitted to exert control over, any other
detainee.”
e By allowing detainee[_____to perform CPR, OfﬁceD;ave him control over
detainee FINO's care.

AREAS OF NOTE

I8l

See Exhibit 9: Creative Corrections Medical and Security Compliance Analysis,
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The ICE PBNDS 2011, Medical Care, section (V), subsections (R)(1)(d) and (e), require
that the facility’s emergency plan include the mandate that all detention and medical staff
receive CPR/AED and emergency first aid training annually; further, that detention and
health care personnel be trained to respond to health related situations within four
minutes. ODO confirmed compliance with these requirements. However, information
gained through interviews and documentation review firmly indicates that in practice,
sole responsibility for medical emergency response falls to medical personnel. Security
staff at ECCF do not act as responders and are responsible only for providing notification
during a medical emergency.

Officer] ___]abdicated his responsibility to provide emergency care to FINO to another
detainee. While[  |notivations are not questioned based on the evidence, his
qualification to perform CPR was not known.

Using the telephone rather than radio to call the medical emergency delayed the response,
as did routing the notification of a medical emergency through a lieutenant. As explained
by Lieutenantlzl the rationale for using the telephone to notify Master Control assures
the notification 1s received. ODO notes it should be no less likely that a radio call
directed to Master Control is received, whereupon Code White should be announced
immediately over the facility’s intercom system. ODO also notes because officers are
trained to recognize health-related emergencies, no vetting of their identification of an
emergency situation by a lientenant should be necessary.

Medical personnel were delayed in responding to FINO by a total of 63 seconds due to
the failure of Master Control to operate the elevator doors in a manner that assured the
most expeditious access to and from the scene. Once a medical emergency is called,
priority should be given to facilitating medical staff’s movement thronghout the facility.

Officer ind poth left Dorm 2 unsupervised. Ofﬁcer:'left for
approximately fourand halt minutes shortly before FINO's medical emergency; Officer

[ Jleft twice after the emergency, the first time for four minutes and the second for

approximately eight minutes. Leaving a post unsupervised puts detainees at risk.

Officer I]%d that he allows detainees to hang sheets on the bunks to shut out light.
Sergean | acknowledged that although not allowed per policy, many officers on
the overnight shift exercise their jJudgment and permit detainees to hang sheets and
blankets. For the same reasons leaving a post unsupervised puts detainees at risk,
allowing detainees to obstruct the officer’s view of bunks is an unsafe practice.

7. : recorded security rounds ever "Jinutes,l
onducting rounds in this fashion defeats the purpose of assuring detainee

safety. When detainees can predict the timing of rounds, they may plan and execute
actions which are self-injurious, and carry out assaultive behavior toward other detainees.
It 1s critical that rounds be random so that detainees cannot predict when an officer will
be making a round.
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8. The internal investigation conducted by IAB appears to have had as its sole focus
whether or not FINO was assaulted prior to his death. The IAB’s investigation
determined that no crime was committed, and no further review of the incident was

: nted. Based on analysis of the IAB report and information provided by Sergeant
rJimlmd Investigator:ODO identified the following flaws in the internal
investigation:

o No ECCF security or medical staff were interviewed during the investigation.
Both Sergearf  l|and Investigato]__|stated that they typically conduct
interviews only when they find discrepancies in the written incident reports of
involved staff. During his interview, Director [} stated that accepting written
reports from staff was not sufficient for purposes of the IAB’s investigation.

e [ncident reports were not collected from medical staff.

e The [AB report inaccurately and inconsistently documents the name of the doctor
who performed FINO’s autopsy.

¢ The [AB report documents video surveillance footage was reviewed, and that “the
incident was not captured.” While this is an accurate statement because there is
no camera in Dorm 2, the report contains no discussion of any findings related to
footage from the corridor camera, even though the footage was obtained as part of
IAB’s investigation. As noted in the narrative of this report, the corridor camera
footage shows Ofﬁce|:|leaving his post without being relieved, as well as
officers not responding to the medical emergency.

¢ There is no indication the [AB attempted to reconcile the Dorm 2 logbook with
the footage of the corridor outside Dorm 2, develop a timeline of the emergency
response, evaluate compliance with post orders and policies prior to and during
the incident, or determine whether security staff responded appropriately to the

emergency. Asn ese records and documentation clearly show that rounds
logged by Office were exactl inutes apart, in violation of his post
orders; that Officerl |left Dorm 2 unsupervised; that neither

officer took detainee FINO's pulse or otherwise attempted to render aid; and, that
available officers near the scene did not respond to assist.

e The IAB report does not document that video footage from the elevator was
requested or viewed by the IAB as part of its investigation. Had the IAB viewed

12 Although not discussed in the narrative of this report, during review ol video surveillance footage, ODO
observed O['ﬁcm'l:“cavc Dorm 2 without being relicved by another efficer on two occasions on June 13, 2016,
after the emergency response was over. He first left at 6:13 a.m. and was gone for approximately three minutes; he
left a second time at 6:17 a.m. and was gone for approximately eight minutes.
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the video, they may have identified the delay closing the elevator doors as a factor
impacting timeliness of the medical emergency response.

9. 0ODO noted numerous violations of ECCF policies and post orders with respect to FINO,
identified below.

¢ General Housing Unit Post Order, which states, “In the event of an emergency
situation, report the conditions and/or circumstances to Center Control by the
most expeditious means possible (telephone, internal 9-1-1, radio, PPD, etc.)...
and then take reasonable action to arrest the sitnation or to remove persons from
harm until such time as more specific instruction from supervisory
personnel/Center Control is received.”

¢ Emergency Response Policy, Section (IV)(C), which states, “In the event of an
emergency condition, the staff member who first becomes aware of the incident
shall immediately alert Master Control (Center Control) in the most expeditious
means possible. The reporting staft member shall provide an accurate, factual
account of all available information regarding the incident. Immediately thereafter
it 1s the reporting staff member’s responsibility to take action necessary to
preserve life and limb, to protect property, and to restore order.”

¢ General Housing Unit Post Order, which states, “All ECDOC staff members have
the responsibility to take appropriate action during an emergency (including
physical restraint) and to perform assignments as necessitated or dictated by
competent authority.”

e The Corrections Officers-Security Assignments policy, which states, “The
Security Officer, under the direction and supervision of the First Line Supervisor,
Sergeant, shall assume responsibility for his/her physical area of assignment,
providing general security within the area of assignment, supervising all inmates
and their activities associated with the area of assignment, assisting staff, inmates,
visitors, and guests, as First Responders, upon direction from Center Control
and/or supervisory personnel, to address emergent conditions.™

e The Corrections Officers-Security Assignments policy, which states, “In the event
an inmate or inmates sustain injury during the course of their routine activities
and/or during an incident, the Pod Officer shall alert Floor Housing Control
and/or Center Control to request medical attention; correctional personnel, trained
in First Aid, may be dispatched to the scene of the medical emergency to provide
assistance, until the services of more qualified health care providers can be
obtained. However, in any event where an inmate exhibits any of the following
signs and/or symptoms:

» BLEEDING, OTHER THAN MINOR CUTS OR SCRAPES;
» SHORTNESS OF BREATH;
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»  SIGNIFICANT PAIN OR ANY KIND;

* BURNS, OTHER THAN MINOR BURNS WITHOUT COMPLAINTS;

* EYE INJURIES, WITH ANY INMATE COMPLAINT;

» SEIZURES; OR

» [FIN THE OFFICER’S OPINION, AN INMATE HAS A MEDICAL
PROBLEM THAT WARRANTS IMMEDIATE MEDICAL
ATTENTION.

Then, the officer shall immediately contact the Medical Department and allow the
inmate to speak directly with a health care provider. Further, the officer shall alert
Floor Housing Control/Center Control for assistance and where feasible, render
First Aid until the services of more gualified medical personnel becomes
available.”

General Housing Unit Post Order, which states, the Officer shall “Enforce
inmate/detainee rules and regulations.”

The ECCF Detainee Handbook, page 6, which states, “Inmates are not permitted
to cover, hang, or attach blankets, sheets, towels, clothing, or any other item to
walls, windows, bunks, air vents, doors or light fixtures anywhere within the
ECCF. Adequate lighting and unobstructed vision must be maintained for officers
at all times throughout the facility.”

The ECCF Detainee Handbook, page 26, which states, “Inmates are not permitted
to cover, hang, or attach blankets, sheets, towels, clothing, or any other item to
walls, windows, bunks, air vents, doors or light fixtures anywhere within the
ECCF. Adequate lighting and unobstructed vision must be maintained at all times
throughout the facility.”

The ECCF Detainee Handbook, page 5, which states, “At no time will any inmate
exert or be allowed to exert anthority over any other inmate or group of inmates”.

The Corrections Officers-Security Assignments policy, which states, the officer
shall “Complete all reports before ending tour of duty.”

The Emergency Response policy, section (IV)(G)(1)(a), which states, “Master
control will make an elevator (S1 or S2) available for responding medical
personnel and their equipment.”

Essex County Department of Corrections Rules and Regulations Manual, section
3:8.13 CONSTANT SUPERVISION, which states, “Inmates shall not be left
unattended and unsupervised at any time, unless dictated by department policy or
at the command of the appropriate supervisor.”
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General Housing Unit Post Order, which states, “All ECDOC staff members are
prohibited from leaving their assigned posts without being properly relieved or
otherwise dismissed by a superior officer.”

General Housing Unit Post Order, which states. “Inmates/ICE Detainees shall be
personally observed by an officer { |but no more tha

Classification Policy, which states, “Each ICE Detainee’s initial classification
worksheet shall be reviewed and approved by a the [sic] classification supervisor
or designee from the ICE Field Office.”
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EXHIBITS

ICE Detainee Classification System — Primary Assessment Form, June 22, 2015
Medical Prescreening by LPN | June 22, 2015

Initial Intake Screening Medical/Mental Health History, June 22, 2015

Medical Screening by D1 June 23, 2015

Practitioner Urgent/Emergent Care by P| fune 13,2016

Officq Incident Report, June 13, 2016

Autopsy Report

Certificate of Death

Creative Corrections Medical and Security Compliance Analysis

e A
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